IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC03-1704

GLOBAL TRAVEL MARKETING, INC. d/b/a THE AFRICA ADVENTURE COMPANY and d/b/a INTERNATIONAL ADVENTURES, LTD.,

Appellant,

vs.

MARK R. SHEA, as Personal Representative of the Estate of MARK GARRITY SHEA, deceased minor,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FLORIDA CIVIL ACTION

BRIEF OF APPELLANT GLOBAL TRAVEL MARKETING, INC.

INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal addresses the enforceability of an agreement to arbitrate entered into between Global Travel Marketing, Inc., d/b/a The Africa Adventure Company ("Africa Adventure"), and Mark Garrity Shea ("Garrity Shea"), by and through his mother, Molly Bruce Jacobs ("Jacobs") as a condition of her and Garrity Shea's participation in a safari to Southern Africa. The safari was arranged by Africa Adventure. The agreement to arbitrate provided that any claim against Africa Adventure arising out of or relating to the safari would be settled by binding arbitration. During the course of that safari, Garrity Shea tragically was killed by a hyena.

On or about June 11, 2001, Mark R. Shea ("Mark Shea" or "Shea"), as Personal Representative of the Estate of Mark Garrity Shea, filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County against Africa Adventure seeking damages for the death of Garrity Shea. Pursuant to a motion filed by Africa Adventure, the Circuit Court stayed the matter and ordered arbitration pursuant to the parties' agreement. (Appendix ("App.") A)¹. The Circuit Court held that Garrity Shea could be bound to the agreement on two

¹ The portions of the Record from the lower courts cited to in this brief are reproduced in the Appendix being filed with this Brief.

theories. First, it found he could be viewed as a third party beneficiary of the contract and therefore was bound by the contract. (<u>Id</u>.) Alternatively, it found that parents may bind children to agreements of this type on the basis of "a well established principle that parents have a fundamental liberty, interest in the care, custody and management of their offspring." (<u>Id</u>.) On the basis of this interest, the court found that "a parent has certain inherent authority in making decisions on behalf of his or her child." (<u>Id</u>.)

Shea appealed that decision, arguing that Garrity Shea's mother could not, pursuant to Florida law, agree to arbitration on his behalf. The Fourth Circuit District Court of Appeal reversed the order of the Circuit Court, stating that "ultimately, the question of whether parents can contract on behalf of their children is determined on public policy grounds." (App. B) On the basis of public policy, namely the state's interest in protecting children, the Court of Appeal concluded "that a parent, under these circumstances, does not have the authority to bind a minor child to arbitrate potential personal injury claims." (<u>Id</u>.) Following an order of the Court of Appeal certifying the question in this case as one of great public importance, Africa Adventure timely sought an appeal of

that ruling to this Court. On September 29, 2003, this Court ordered

briefing of the issue.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mark Shea is a resident of Maryland. (App. G). He is the father of Garritty Shea, who also was a resident of Maryland. (Id.) He was appointed personal representative of the Estate of Mark Garrity Shea in Maryland. (Id.). Molly Bruce Jacobs, Garrity Shea's mother and a lawyer, at all relevant times, also was a resident of Maryland. (Id.) In or about the beginning of 2000, she contacted Africa Adventure from Maryland about arranging a safari to Africa for Garitty Shea and herself. (App. C, 3).

Africa Adventure was, and is, a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Florida, with its headquarters and principal place of business in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. (App. C, 1). Africa Adventure was, and currently is, a tour operator specializing in African safaris. (<u>Id</u>.) As a tour operator, Africa Adventure plans and arranges the various elements of safaris throughout Africa. (<u>Id</u>.)

At Jacobs' request, Africa Adventure arranged a safari for Jacobs and her son to Botswana and Zimbabwe. (<u>Id</u>. at 2) The safari began on July 3, 2000, and was scheduled to end on July 28, 2000. (<u>Id</u>.) On July 4, 2000, Garrity Shea and Jacobs arrived in Maun, Botswana. (<u>Id</u>.) The following morning they boarded a private charter flight to Xai Xai, Botswana, where they

began their safari and camping. (<u>Id</u>.) On July 17, 2000, they arrived at the Xakanaxa airstrip in the Moremi Reserve in Botswana. (<u>Id</u>.) After spending the first night of this segment of their safari camping on an island in the Xakanaxa area of the Delta within the Reserve, they were taken to a mobile camp. (<u>Id</u>.) On July 19, 2000, while at this camp, the incident at issue occurred. (<u>Id</u>.)

The safari in which Garritty Shea was participating was not a standard safari. (App. C, 2-3). To the contrary, it was a customized, private trip, each element of which Jacobs specifically selected. (<u>Id</u>.) Independent contractors located in Africa operated each element of the safari. When they booked the trip, on or about March 10, 2000, Jacobs, who is an attorney, signed, on behalf of both herself and Garritty Shea, a Release of Liability and Assumption of Risk form (the "Release") explicitly acknowledging and accepting the risks

involved as a condition of participating in the safari. (App. C, 3).

The Release includes a provision mandating that all disputes between Jacobs and/or Garritty Shea and Africa Adventure be settled by binding arbitration:

Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the making, performance or interpretation thereof, <u>shall be settled by binding</u> <u>arbitration</u> in Fort Lauderdale, FL, in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association then existing, and judgment on the arbitration award may be entered in any court having jurisdiction over the subject matter of the controversy.

 $(App. C, 3-4, 6).^2$

² In addition to the agreement to arbitrate, the Release provides, in part:

IN CONSIDERATION OF being accepted for the adventure vacation that I am participating in under the auspices of THE AFRICA ADVENTURE COMPANY, its agents, associates, assigns, employees, officers, licensees, and successors in interest (hereafter The Africa Adventure Company), I hereby agree as follows:

I have been informed and am aware that ADVENTURE TRAVEL CAN BE DANGEROUS and includes certain risks and dangers, including but not limited to . . . dangers of wild animals, forces of nature . . . and evacuation difficulties, should I be injured or disabled. I accept the inherent risks of the proposed trip and acknowledge that the enjoyment of adventuring beyond normal safety of home and work is in part the reason for my participation on this trip.

I HEREBY RELEASE, WAIVE, INDEMNIFY, and AGREE NOT TO SUE THE AFRICA ADVENTURE COMPANY for any or all liability to the undersigned, his/her personal representatives, heirs, assigns, and next of kin, for any and all losses, damages, or injuries or any claim or demand on account of injury or emotional trauma to the person . . . or on Jacobs signed the contract on her own behalf and on behalf of her son. The relevant portion of the Release provides:

I, as parent or legal guardian of the below named minor, hereby give my permission for this child or legal ward to participate in the trip and further agree, individually and on behalf of my child or ward, to the terms of the above.

(App. C, 4).

On or about November 21, 2000, Jacobs filed a suit for damages arising out of this incident. Africa Adventure moved to stay that suit and to compel arbitration pursuant to the agreement to arbitrate Jacobs signed. The trial court found that the arbitration agreement was valid, binding on Jacobs, and that it encompassed the claims arising out of her son's death. (App. D). Accordingly, it granted Africa Adventure's motion. A decision was affirmed on appeal. (App. E).³

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

(App. C, 3, 6).

account of death resulting from any cause, including negligence (but not the reckless, willful, or fraudulent conduct) of THE AFRICA ADVENTURE COMPANY or others while the undersigned is participating in a tour or any travel or other arrangements made by THE AFRICA ADVENTURE COMPANY.

³The parties in the Jacobs matter are currently in arbitration.

In its opinion of August 27, 2003, the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified the issue in this case as one of great public importance. There can be no question of the importance of this issue. As we explain more completely in Point III, parts C

and D, the implications of the decision in this case are profound. The decision reached in this case could have deep impact to the fundamental rights of parents and on the role of the family in raising, educating and controlling the experiences of their children.

Additionally, the result in this case will greatly affect the operations of the courts in Florida. Under the approach adopted by the Court of Appeal, courts will be placed in the position of determining the best interests of children not, as now, in those few circumstances where parents are unable to do so, but on a daily basis. Courts will be called upon to weigh a child's interests against the risks associated with a given activity and asked to decide whether the child's rights to a jury trial or his or her substantive rights should be waived. Moreover, the courts will be asked to do so hundreds if not thousands of times on a daily basis, as parents seek court authorization for their children to play little league, join

the Girl Scouts, join their parents on a canoe trip and otherwise go about daily life.

Likewise, Florida businesses that deal with minors, including major industries such as tourism, travel, theme parks and transportation will be severely impacted if minors, through their parents, can no longer enter into enforceable agreements to arbitrate and/or to release entities. Many Florida businesses depend on the validity of agreements to arbitrate, forum

selection clauses and/or releases of liability in their methods of operation, pricing of goods and services, and costs of insurance coverage. These businesses will, at minimum, be forced to reevaluate entirely the way in which they operate if such agreements are declared invalid. It is reasonable to expect that many of these businesses will henceforth refuse to serve children and/or families or will increase their prices for doing so dramatically. Many others, voluntarily or involuntarily, likely will cease operating either because they cannot afford to do so, cannot attract sufficient business at the new, higher prices they are forced to charge, or cannot obtain needed insurance coverage due to the uncertainty created by the Court of Appeal's ill-considered rule.

It is vital that this Court consider this issue at this time. The uncertainly facing businesses until this issue is addressed by this court and until the decision of the Court of Appeal is reversed will continue to grow. Rather than allow the issue to go undecided, meaning that businesses throughout the state will not know if their releases and agreements to arbitrate are valid or whether the prices they are charging for their goods and services accurately reflect the costs and risks being borne by the business, this Court should address this issue at this time.

POINTS ON APPEAL

- 1. THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT GOVERNS THIS MATTER AND REQUIRES ENFORCEMENT OF THE PARTIES' AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE.
- 2. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN REFUSING TO ENFORCE THE AGREEMENT ON PUBLIC POLICY GROUNDS
- 3. EVEN IF CONSIDERATION OF PUBLIC POLICY WAS PROPER, THE AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE SHOULD BE ENFORCED BECAUSE FLORIDA LAW AND PUBLIC POLICY FAVOR ENFORCEMENT OF THESE TYPES OF AGREEMENTS.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue on appeal relates to the enforceability of an agreement to arbitrate entered into by a parent on behalf of

her child. Resolution of this issue is governed by the Federal Arbitration Act (the "FAA"), which strongly favors the enforcement of arbitration agreements and creates a presumption of arbitrability. This presumption exists both where the question before a court is whether a person or entity is a party to the agreement and where the issue is whether grounds exist to refuse to enforce the agreement entered into by the parties.

Under the FAA, resolution of these issues is resolved by looking to generally applicable contract law principles of the state. The state may not consider is own public policies or state interests in determining whether to enforce an arbitration agreement, as state laws contrary to or inconsistent with the FAA's presumption of arbitrability and the federal policy

favoring arbitration are preempted.

There is no question that Garrity Shea was a party to the agreement to arbitrate. Numerous decisions recognize the right of parents to contract on behalf of their children. This right in encompassed by the fundamental right of parents to direct and control the upbringing, education and experiences of their children. Even absent such overriding parental rights, the

agreement is enforceable against Garrity Shea as a third party beneficiary of the contract.

Based on the foregoing, it was error for the Court of Appeal to refuse to enforce the arbitration agreement. There are no generally applicable contract law principles justifying the decision, nor did the Court of Appeal suggest there were any such principles applicable to the case. On the contrary, the Court of Appeal expressly based its decision on public policy grounds, concluding that the state interest in protecting children outweighed the presumption of arbitrability of the FAA. This approach is prohibited by the FAA, as the state public policy considerations were preempted by the FAA and its overriding public policy to favor arbitration.

Even if consideration of public policy issues was proper, the Court of Appeal made the wrong choice in this case. The overriding interest applicable to this matter is the fundamental right of parents to direct the upbringing, education and experiences of their children. This right, alternatively viewed as a privacy right of families, is paramount, and this Court has held that courts should not second-guess parental decision making or attempt to determine the "best interests" of children absent

an absolute need to do so. While the Court may determine a child's interests where a parent is found to be unfit, or where a

parent's interests conflict with the interests of a child, it may not do so where such circumstances do not exist.

Finally, the Court of Appeal's decision to supplant the judgment of parent's with its own judgment concerning the best interests of children in Florida creates an unworkable system. Under that system, parents may be able to sign agreements to arbitrate or substantive releases for a child to participate in school trips or "commonplace" sports and activities, but may not do so in the context of family trips or unique or unusual events. Thus, before a child may participate in such activities parents will be forced to seek court approval. The Courts are ill-equipped to deal with a daily influx of hundreds of parents seeking approval for their trip to Disney World.

Similarly, innumerable businesses which deal with families and children, and require agreements to arbitrate or releases, as a fundamental part of their business, will be forced to cease operations, radically re-price their goods and services or radically change their operations. Major industries, particularly industries such as the travel, tourism, and

transportation industries will be significantly impacted by a decision that parents cannot agree to arbitration on behalf of their children.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT GOVERNS THIS MATTER AND REQUIRES ENFORCEMENT OF THE PARTIES' AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE.

A. The Federal Arbitration Act applies to the contract between the plaintiff and Africa Adventure.

Analysis of the issues in this case must begin with recognition of the fact that the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1, <u>et seq</u>. governs this case. The FAA creates "a body of federal substantive law of arbitrability" and represents "a liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements, notwithstanding any state substantive or procedural policies to the contrary." Moses H. Cone Memorial Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24 (1983)(underlining added). <u>See also</u> <u>Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v. Distajo</u>, 107 F.3d 126, 130 (2d Cir. 1997). The pertinent section of the FAA provides as follows:

If any suit or proceeding be brought in any of the courts of the United States upon any issue referable to arbitration, the court in which such suit is

pending, upon being satisfied that the issue involved in such suit or proceeding is referable to arbitration under such an agreement, shall on application of one of the parties stay the trial of the action until such arbitration has been had in accordance with the terms of the agreement, providing the applicant for the stay is not in default in proceeding with such arbitration.

9 U.S.C. § 3. The FAA must be applied in state court in order to prevent forum-shopping and assure uniform results in all cases, whether filed in federal or state courts. <u>Allied-Bruce Terminix Cos. v. Dobson</u> (1995) 513 U.S. 265, 273-74, 279. "Under the FAA, any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration, whether the problem at hand is the construction of the contract language itself or an allegation or waiver, delay, or a like defense to arbitrability." <u>Moses H. Cone Mem. Hosp.</u>, 460 U.S. at 24-25. <u>See also Coenen v. R.W. Pressprich & Co.</u>, 453 F.2d 1209, 1211-12 (2d Cir. 1972), <u>cert. denied</u>, 406 U.S. 949 (1972); <u>American</u>

Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging Inc., 96 F.3d 88, 92 (4th Cir.

1996); <u>Howard Elec. & Mech. Co. v. Frank Briscoe Co.</u>, 754 F.2d 847, 849-50 (9th Cir. 1985). "[A court] may not deny a party's request to arbitrate an issue 'unless it may be said with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation that covers the asserted dispute.'"

<u>American Recovery Corp.</u>, 96 F.3d at 92 (quoting <u>United</u> <u>Steelworkers of America v. Warrior & Gulf Navigation Co.</u>, 363 U.S. 574, 582-83 (1960)). <u>See also Mehler v. Terminex Int'l Co.</u> <u>L.P.</u>, 205 F.3d 44, 49 (2d Cir. 2000).

The FAA preempts contrary provisions of state law. <u>Southland Corp. v. Keating</u>, 465 U.S. 1, 10-16 (1984).⁴ The preemption is broad; any state arbitration act or ruling that treats contracts to arbitrate specially or differently from contracts generally is pre-empted if, as applied, such law is inconsistent with the FAA. <u>See Doctor's Assocs., Inc. v.</u> Casarotto, 517 U.S. 681 (1996).

The FAA's presumption of arbitrability and preemption doctrines are applicable both where the issue is whether an agreement to arbitrate is enforceable and whether one should be considered a party to an agreement to arbitrate. <u>See Employers</u> <u>Ins. of Wausau v. Bright Metal Specialties, Inc.</u>, 251 F.3d 1316, 1322 (11th Cir. 2001). Cases enforcing arbitration agreements against nonsignatories have repeatedly recognized the applicability of this presumption. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Cross v.</u>

⁴The FAA's legislative history makes clear that Congress intended "a broad reach of the act, unencumbered by state law restraints." <u>Southland Corp. v. Keating</u>, 465 U.S. at 13.

Carnes, 724 N.E.2d 828, 836 (Ohio 1998) (enforcing arbitration agreement signed by parent against minor child "in light of Ohio's policy favoring the settlement of disputes through arbitration"); <u>Doyle v. Giuliucci</u>, 62 Cal. 2d 606, 401 P.2d 1, 6-7 (1965) (enforcing arbitration agreement signed by parent against minor); <u>Leong v. Kaiser Found. Hosps.</u>, 71 Haw. 240, 249, 788 P.2d 164, 169 (1990) (same); <u>MS Dealer Svc. Corp. v.</u> <u>Franklin</u>, 177 F.3d 942 (11th Cir. 1999)(enforcing arbitration agreement against nonsignatory to agreement; "as a general rule, therefore, the parties' intentions control, but those intentions are generously construed as to issues of arbitrability").

For the FAA to apply to the contract between the plaintiff and Africa Adventure, it must, of course, be shown that the contract involves "commerce" as defined by the Act.⁵ The FAA defines "commerce," in part, as "commerce among the several States or with foreign nations. . . . " 9 U.S.C. § 1.

The Release containing the arbitration clause was entered into between Jacobs and Garrity Shea -- residents of Maryland

⁵"A written provision in any maritime transaction or a contract evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such contract or transaction . . . shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract." 9 U.S.C. § 2.

at the time of the booking of their safari and at the time of the safari itself -- and Africa Adventure, a Florida corporation.

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