IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1704

GLOBAL TRAVEL MARKETING, INC., etc.,

Petitioner,

-vs-

MARK R. SHEA, etc.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

RICCI ~ LEOPOLD 2925 PGA Blvd., Ste. 200 Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33410 and CARUSO & BURLINGTON, P.A. 1615 Forum Place, Ste. 3A West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 686-8010 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question should be answered "no" based on well-settled law which prevents minor's rights and property from being disposed of or waived without judicial oversight. To rule otherwise would permit parties to contractually eliminate the courts <u>parens patriae</u> role to protect children. This issue should not be influenced by the federal policy favoring arbitration, because the question involves the formation of the contract, not the interpretation of an arbitration provision. The determination whether a non-party is bound to a contract is governed by state law and common law principles, unaffected by federal policy considerations.

The common law, and Florida jurisprudence particularly, has severely restricted a parent's authority to waive or contractually limit substantive rights of their children. The parents' role as natural guardians does not grant them that right, and the Florida legislature has only deviated from that prohibition in very limited contexts. One area in which the legislature has maintained restrictions on parents' authority involves agreements to compromise claims of minors which, in most circumstances, require court approval. Here, the mother's execution of the Release/Arbitration Agreement not only attempted to relinquish prospective claims, but also to waive substantive rights such as the right to jury trial and the right to access to the courts. The latter is particularly significant, because the contract was essentially an attempt to divest the courts of its <u>parens</u> <u>patriae</u> role, and to delegate the best interest of the child to contractual remedies. This is clearly prohibited by the common law, and the Florida Legislature has not authorized a deviation from those principles.

Contrary to Defendant's contention, the Fourth District's analysis did not implement a policy specifically disfavoring arbitration in violation of the Federal Arbitration Act. The principles upon which the Fourth District relied applied to contracts generally, i.e., parents' attempts to waive or dispose of their children's rights by contract. Furthermore, there is no interference with the fundamental rights of parents to raise their children. The Fourth District's decision only affects third parties' attempts to enforce contractual arbitration provisions against minors, where the underlying contract was signed by a single parent. There is no interference with any decision of a parent regarding the educational, social, or psychological welfare of the child. Therefore, the Fourth District's decision should be approved, and the certified question answered in the negative.

ARGUMENT

OUESTION PRESENTED

THE CERTIFIED QUESTION SHOULD BE ANSWERED "NO" AND THE REASONING OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT SHOULD BE APPROVED.

The Answer to the Certified Question Is Controlled by State Law

Whether analyzed under Florida law addressing arbitration or the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1 <u>et seq</u>. (hereafter "FAA"), the threshold determination is whether the parties to the lawsuit have entered into a valid arbitration agreement, <u>Estate of Blanchard v. Central Park Lodges</u>, Inc., 805 So.2d 6 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); <u>Fleetwood Enterprises</u>, Inc. v. Gaskamp, 280 F.3d 1069 (5th Cir. 2002). This required the lower court to determine whether Garrit was bound by the Release/Arbitration Agreement executed by Jacobs. This issue is governed by state law, and its resolution is <u>not</u> to be influenced by the federal policy favoring arbitration.

The United States Supreme Court has stated that the purpose of the FAA is "to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts but not more so," <u>Prima</u> <u>Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin Mfg. Co.</u>, 388 U.S. 395, 404, n.12, 87 S.Ct. 1801, 18 L.Ed.2d 1270 (1967). This mandates that the determination of who is bound to such agreements be determined by generally applicable contract principles. In <u>EEOC</u> v. Waffle House, 122 S.Ct. 754, 764 (2002), 534 U.S. 279, 151 L.Ed.2d 755, the

Court stated:

The FAA directs courts to place arbitration agreements on equal footing with other contracts, but it "does not require parties to arbitrate when they have not agreed to do so." [Citations omitted.] Because the FAA is "at bottom a policy guaranteeing the enforcement of private contractual arrangements," <u>Mitsubishi Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler–Plymouth, Inc.</u>, 473 U.S. 614, 625, 105 S.Ct. 3346, 87 L.Ed.2d 444 (1985), we look first to whether the parties agreed to arbitrate a dispute, not to general policy goals, to determine the scope of the agreement. Id., at 626, 105 S.Ct. 3346.

* *

It goes without saying that a contract cannot bind a <u>nonparty</u>. [Emphasis supplied.]

*

* * *

The Supreme Court also stated in <u>First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan</u>, 514 U.S. 938, 944, 115 S.Ct. 1920, 1924, 131 L.Ed.2d 985 (1995), that the determination of who is bound to an arbitration provision is made based on "ordinary state-law principles that govern the formation of contracts." Since that issue is governed solely by ordinary state law contract principles, the federal policy favoring arbitration is irrelevant. This was clearly explained in <u>Grunstad v. Ritt</u>, 106 F.3d 201, 205, n.5 (7th Cir. 1997):

[Appellee] Ritt makes passing reference to the policy embodied in the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§1-14, that where a contract contains an arbitration clause, "doubts should be resolved in favor of coverage." [Citations omitted.] However, this reference misconstrues the breadth of what has been called the "federal policy favoring arbitration." [Citations omitted.] As the First Circuit aptly observed in <u>McCarthy v. Azure</u>, 22 F.3d 351 (1st Cir. 1994), the federal policy favoring arbitration applies to issues concerning the *scope* of an arbitration agreement entered into consensually by contracting parties; it does not serve to extend the reach of an arbitration provision to parties who never agreed to arbitrate in the first place.

Other federal circuit courts agree with that analysis. <u>McCarthy v. Azur</u>, <u>supra</u>, 22 F.3d at 355; <u>Daisy Manufacturing Co., Inc. v. NCR Corp.</u>, 29 F.3d 389, 392 (8th Cir. 1994); <u>Fleetwood Enterprises v. Gaskamp</u>, <u>supra</u>, 280 F.3d at 1074, n.5.

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the trial court relied on <u>Mitsubishi Motors v. Soler</u> <u>Chrysler-Plymouth</u>, <u>supra</u>, for the proposition that the issue whether Jacobs could bind Garrit is governed by federal substantive law of arbitrability (A119). That is wrong, as a matter of law, because there was no issue in <u>Mitsubishi</u> regarding who was bound to the arbitration provision; the only issue was the scope of the arbitration provision, i.e., whether antitrust claims were arbitrable. As the United States Supreme Court made clear in <u>First Options of Chicago</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>EEOC v. Waffle House</u>, <u>supra</u>, the issue regarding who is bound to an arbitration agreement is determined under state law. Therefore, <u>Mitsubishi</u>, <u>supra</u>, does not support Defendant's position. The authorities relied upon by the Defendant for the proposition that the federal policy favoring arbitration must affect the determination of whether a non-signatory is bound by an arbitration clause, do not survive scrutiny. First, all the cases cited in the first two paragraphs of Point IA of Global Travel's Initial Brief address the interpretation of the scope of a valid arbitration provision; not whether a non-signatory can be bound to the contract. The cases cited thereafter do not support Defendant's position either.

Global Travel cites <u>Employers Ins. of Wausau v. Bright Metal Specialities, Inc.</u>, 251 F.3d 1316 (11th Cir. 2001). However, the court there stated that:

Federal law establishes the enforceability of arbitration agreements, <u>while state law governs</u> the interpretation and <u>formation of such agreements</u>. [Citations omitted. Emphasis supplied.]

Furthermore, in determining whether the insurer in that case was bound to arbitrate, the Eleventh Circuit specifically analyzed the issue under "common law principles of contract and agency law," and specifically relied on state law to resolve it (251 F.3d at 1322-23).

Global Travel cites three state court decisions as applying the federal presumption in favor of arbitration to resolve the issue of whether a non-signatory was bound to arbitrate. However, none of those cases relied on federal law to determine that issue. The opinions in <u>Doyle v. Giuliucci</u>, 401 P.2d 1 (Cal. 1965), and <u>Leong v.</u> <u>Kaiser Foundation Hospitals</u>, 788 P.2d 164 (Haw. 1990), did not cite <u>any</u> federal authority, but relied solely on state law. In <u>Cross v. Carnes</u>, 724 N.E.2d 828 (Oh.App. 1998), while the court cited federal authority regarding the arbitrability of the issue, when discussing the question of whether the mother had the authority to bind her daughter to arbitration, the court specifically stated "we will apply the law of the forum state, Ohio, in our discussion of this issue," 724 N.E.2d at 836. No federal authority was mentioned in its discussion on that question.

The final case cited by Global Travel for this proposition is <u>MS Dealer Service</u> <u>Corp. v. Franklin</u>, 177 F.3d 942 (11th Cir. 1999), in which the issue was whether a non-party to a contract could enforce an arbitration provision against a party who was a signatory to the agreement. There, after noting the policy favoring arbitration agreements, the court stated (177 F.3d at 947):

Notwithstanding this strong federal policy, however, "arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." <u>AT&T Techs., Inc. v.</u> <u>Communications Workers of Am.</u>, 475 U.S. 643, 648, 106 S.Ct. 1415, 89 L.Ed.2d 648 (1986) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The court th ereafter determined that the party seeking to compel arbitration had standing to do so, because the opposing party was equitably estopped from rejecting an applicable arbitration provision in an agreement she had indisputably signed. Thus, the court in <u>MS Dealer</u> applied a common law equitable concept to resolve the issue, not a federal statute or policy consideration.

In conclusion, case law is clear that federal policy favoring arbitration cannot be relied upon to skew the analysis of whether a non-party, in this case a child, is bound to an arbitration agreement. This determination is based solely on state law, which compels the conclusion that Molly Jacobs did not have authority to bind her minor son to the release which contained the arbitration provision at issue here.

<u>Under Florida Law, Jacobs Had No Authority to Contractually Bind Garrit to</u> <u>Arbitration</u>

The right of parental control over children, while fundamental, has always been "subject to the paramount right of the state as <u>parens patriae</u>",⁶ to protect minors, <u>Hancock v. Dupree</u>, 129 So. 822, 823 (Fla. 1930). Parents' rights to the care,

 $^{^{6}}$ /<u>Parens patriae</u> means "parent of his or her country," and refers to the role of the state as sovereign and guardian of persons under legal disability, such as children, <u>see</u> Black's Law Dictionary (7 Ed. 1999) 1137.

custody, and companionship of their children are not absolute, but are subject to the overriding principle that the ultimate welfare or best interest of the child must prevail, <u>In Re Interest of Camm</u>, 294 So.2d 318, 320 (Fla. 1974). In Florida, minors are wards of the court and the circuit courts have the inherent authority and responsibility to protect their welfare. <u>In Re Brock</u>, 25 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1946); <u>Phillips v. Nationwide</u> <u>Mutual Ins. Co.</u>, 347 So.2d 465 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977); <u>Interest of Peterson</u>, 364 So.2d 98 (Fla. 4^h DCA 1978). This principle is not unique to Florida, but is commonly accepted throughout the United States, 42 <u>Am.Jur.2d</u> Infants §151 p.117:

Historically, courts have possessed inherent and statutory authority to protect children, and minors are wards of the court with inherent power in the court to protect them. Thus, the courts have plenary jurisdiction over the persons and estates of infants which derives from the common law and is independent of any authority given by the legislature. <u>Public policy dictates that courts should guard carefully the rights of infants, and that an infant should not be precluded from enforcing his or her rights unless clearly debarred from doing so by a statute or constitutional provision. [Emphasis supplied. Footnote deleted]</u>

Parents, as natural guardians of their offspring, do not have the authority to contract away or waive their children's rights or property.⁷ In <u>McKinnon v. First</u>

⁷/Global Travel states that "it is well-settled in most contracts parents may contract on behalf of their children" (IB 19). That is clearly false, and the only Florida case cited in support of it is <u>Phillips v. Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co., supra</u>. In <u>Phillips</u>, the court held that while the next friend of a minor may conduct litigation on behalf of (continued...)

National Bank of Pensacola, 82 So. 748, 750 (Fla. 1919), a father made deposits into savings accounts in the names of his four minor children. An issue arose regarding his right to dispose of that property. This Court stated (82 So. at 750):

This case hinges upon the question whether the father at the time he made the deposits to the credit of his children intended them as free gifts as of the dates of the deposits. If so, the funds became the property of the infants, and he lost dominion over it and <u>it passed completely out of his</u> <u>control as their natural guardian</u>. This guardianship confers <u>no right to intermeddle with the property of the infant, but</u> <u>is a mere personal right in the father or other ancestor to the</u> <u>custody of the person of his heir apparent or presumptive</u> <u>until attaining 21 years of age</u>. [Citation and internal quotation marks omitted. Emphasis supplied.]

See also, Valentine v. Kelner, 452 So.2d 965 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) (natural guardian must obtain court approval prior to expending assets of ward notwithstanding trust provision purporting to release natural guardian of legal duties).

This limitation on a parent's authority to control a child's property extends to dispositions of the child's rights. The general rule is that a guardian does not have authority to waive the rights of an infant, 42 <u>Am.Jur.2d</u> Infants §187, pp.146-47;

⁷(...continued)

the ward, a contingency fee contract entered into on behalf of the minor would only be binding if the trial court determined that it was reasonably necessary to employ an attorney, <u>and</u> that the contract was fair and reasonable. The court stressed that it had the inherent jurisdiction and right to protect minors and their property, and that authority included determining whether a contract on behalf of a minor was reasonable. Thus, that case hardly stands for the proposition that "in most contexts parents may contract on behalf of their children" (IB 19).

<u>Childress v. Madison County</u>, 777 S.W.2d 1 (Tenn. 1989); <u>Fedor v. Mauwehu</u> <u>Council, Boy Scouts of America</u>, 143 A.2d 466 (Conn.S.Ct. 1958). More particularly, the natural guardian has no authority to contract to compromise or settle a child's claim, or to waive substantive rights of the child without court approval, 59 <u>Am.Jur.2d</u> Parent and Child §40 p.183; <u>see Romish v. Albo</u>, 291 So.2d 24 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974) (neither a minor's attorney nor his father could waive his right to file a compulsory counterclaim, absent a court order).

More particularly, under the common law, a guardian ad litem or next friend, had no authority to bind his or her minor ward to arbitration, <u>Millsaps v. Estes</u>, 50 S.E. 227 (N.C. 1905) (and cases cited therein); <u>see also, Fort v. Battle</u>, 21 Miss. 133 (Miss.Err.App. 1849); <u>Tucker v. Dabbs</u>, 59 Tenn. 18 (Tenn. 1873). The rationale of those cases was twofold: First, that an agreement of an infant to submit to arbitration is voidable, as any other contract of an infant; and, second, that the court had the duty to protect the minor's interests, and should not permit that responsibility to be delegated to arbitrators, <u>see Millsaps v. Estes</u>, <u>supra</u>, 50 S.E. at 229.

The Florida Legislature has addressed the disability of non-age of minors, removing the contractual limitation, with parental participation, in specific contexts, see §743.01, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, <u>et seq</u>. For example, the legislature has authorized minors who have been married or divorced from entering into contracts, §743.01, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>;

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